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For Michelle, who cared more about my dreams than she did her own.

And for Meagan, Steve, and Madison; I am more proud of you than words can express.
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Introduction

My brother-in-law Evan Easterly is a policeman in San Marcos, Texas, outside of San Antonio. One afternoon recently, I got a call from him. He had just responded to a bank robbery in which the robber got away, and Evan was standing inside the now-locked bank. I could hear voices in the background as the familiar process of interviewing the tellers and bank personnel began. I was absolutely at a loss as to why Evan was calling.

Steve, do you know an FBI agent named Ryan March?

I was floored. Ryan was one of my favorite people in the world; wed been on the same SWAT team for five years. We went through SWAT tryouts, SWAT training, and countless SWAT operations together. As teammates, we depended on each other for our lives. We traveled all over the world with the team. But even beyond that, he was one of the most interesting, funny, and tactically competent people I had ever met. But hed transferred to San Antonio several years ago, and wed had had little contact since then.

Ryan March? I asked excitedly. Yes, I know who he is. How do you know him?

Hes standing right here, Steve; he responded to the bank robbery and he says he knows you.

Evan, listen carefully, I said seriously. The reason I know him is that hes a con artist who has posed as a preschool teacher and an FBI agent all over the world. Be careful. Hes a very sick man.

Thats kinda what he told me youd say. Evan said, deadpan. Here he is, he added, handing his cell phone to Ryan.

Hey, Steve, has your wife ever leveled with you about her and me? was Ryans opening gambit. It would be out of character for him to start a conversation with anything but a provocative joke.

Suddenly it all flooded back: all the memories, all the joy, all the pain, along with an aching longing to be back on SWAT with Ryan and the team. It wasnt the guns, it wasnt the excitement, it wasnt the cool operationsit was the people. Our conversation was all too brief, as Ryan had to get back to work. I longed to be in that bank, interviewing victim tellers and building a case. It had gotten routine before I retired, but now it would be incredibly refreshing. When we finally bid each other good-bye, Ryan finished with a quick Miss ya, man. Thats about as sensitive as SWAT guys get, but it said a lot.

One of the greatest privileges of being in the FBI was getting to work with the incredible people there. Obviously, in every situation there are exceptions, but I have never seen a more uniformly competent, overachieving group of people in my life. I was proud to be one of them, and never stopped hoping that I would measure up to the agents I worked with. Theres a phrase in the FBI to describe the wide-eyed fascination that new agents come to town with; its called lights and sirens syndrome. It takes some people years to get over it. Im not sure I ever did. I think thats because some people know that they belong in the FBI, that its where they should be. Some are just grateful to be there.

Im grateful, but like someone who finds a million dollars in a bag on the side of the road, I didnt want to call too much attention to myself for fear that a mistake had been made. I was always amazed at the mystique the FBI seemed to give me. Each time I pulled out the badge and said, FBI. Special Agent Moore, the reaction was amazing. People went pale. They hyperventilated. They stuttered. I felt like whispering to the honest ones, Look behind the sunglassesIm just a normal guy! Im not really like you think I am.

Maybe thats why I wanted to tell my story. Since I never lost the lights and siren syndrome, I think I have a unique view of the FBI. I never forgot that I was blessed to be where I was, and I never, ever, stopped loving what I was doing there. So this is the story of an FBI career from a guy who didnt get jaded. From a guy who loved it as much on his last day as he did on his first. A guy for whom every case was the best case he had ever worked. Sure, there were times when I didnt love the FBI, but none when I didnt like the job of special agent.

I cannot tell you how many movies and TV shows Ive seen about FBI agents. Ive even written a couple of TV episodes. But in every one of those screen characterizations, agents are seen as fearless, emotionless near-automatons unfazed by death and risk. Jack Bauer (Kiefer Sutherland) of the television show 24 was a case in point. Every week, Jack would live another hour of an incredible twenty-four-hour adventure. What he regularly did in twenty-four hours, the average real agent doesnt do in twenty-four years.

When Jack Bauer was the head of the fictional Los Angeles Counter Terrorist Unit (CTU), I was the supervisor of al-Qaeda investigations for the Los Angeles FBIs Joint Terrorism Task Force (JTTF). Jacks job was to stop terrorism in L.A. and the United States. So was mine. Jack was a SWAT operator who carried a .40 caliber Sig Sauer P229. I was a SWAT operator who carried a 9 mm Sig Sauer P228but I really wanted the higher-caliber P229. Bauer was a sniper, and so was I. Jack was an airplane and helicopter pilot for the FBI. So was I. Bauer was an undercover agent, and so was I.

But thats where the similarities end. Jack was fearless, and I felt fearI just didnt let it stop me. Jack saw death and was unaffected. I saw death and couldnt get it out of my mind. Jack was cool, and I lived in a suburb and drove my wife and three kids around in a minivan. We had the same job; we just went about it in different ways. But my job was real.

So to the reader and to my fellow agents, I must confess: Im not Jack Bauer.

(But I still want his Sig 229.)
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Hi, My Name Is Steve, and Im Addicted to Adrenaline

THE PREDAWN AIR was crisp and cool, and the breeze across my face refreshed me and wicked away some sweat that had soaked my black flight suit, even in the fifty-degree night. The streets were empty, the dutiful traffic lights just going through the motions.

I loved this time of the morning. I was exhilarated, I was happy, I was determined. My feet stood on a steel grate about eight inches off the ground, and the asphalt I saw between my feet was disappearing behind me at forty miles per hour.

I looked across at Ryan and saw the same excitement, the same contentedness, and the same intensity. He looked ahead, his goggles down, and he was in the zone. I loved the zone. The Chevy Suburban ahead of us suddenly slowed, the brake lights as bright as road flares. The team on the lead Suburban held on to the rails above the windows to keep from sliding forward. Four operators on each side. I looked back at the vehicles behind us: two more Suburbans with eight operators each on the rails, the mount-out truck carrying any other equipment wed need at the site, and a dozen police and FBI cars behind that. It was an exciting sight. LAPD black-and-whites blocked each intersection as we sped through.

Jeff Hughes, next to me, yelled over the rush of the wind and the sound of the trucks: One-fourteenth Street coming up!

All operators began going through their own personal checklist to ensure that they were ready to dismount. Helmet strap on, goggles down, balaclava pulled up, covering the face except for the eyes. I slapped the butt of the ammo magazine to check that it was seated into the Heckler & Koch MP5 submachine gun. A quick check that my muzzle light was working and a glance through the sight to make sure the red dot had reported for duty. A look down at my tactical belt confirmed that my Springfield .45 was secured and my reserve mags were locked down.

Jeff radioed in to the command post. Thirties at yellow, he announced to the CP.

The yellowthe last place that the agents have the luxury of concealment and cover before the site of an operationhad been chosen from aerial photos and street diagrams two hours earlier at the SWAT briefing room in the garage/special operations structure of the FBI office in Westwood, just down the hill from a sleeping UCLA. The briefing had begun at 2:30 AM on the dot. Forty SWAT operators crowded into the briefing room.

To say that my teammates were my friends would be inadequate. We trained together, we worked together, and at times we depended on one another for our lives. I loved these guys. On the face of the Earth that morning, there was no place Id rather be.

Five individual teams made up the entire Los Angeles FBI SWAT team. They were numbered: the Twenties, Thirties, Forties, Fifties, and Sixties. Each team consisted of between eight and ten operators, depending on staffing, and each thought it was the best team on Los Angeles FBI SWAT.

I, fortunately, was one of the Thirties, which actually was the best team on L.A. SWAT.

The Thirties were the primary team for this operation, and the Thirties team leader, Jeff Hughes, got ready to begin the brief at the front of the room. Behind him was a whiteboard with a detailed drawing of an apartment floor plan, both the first and the second floors, as well as a map of the block, along with any environmental obstaclesfencing and the like. As Jeff got ready to speak, the SWAT secretary passed out a stack of twenty-page operational plans.

Ladies!

The room quieted down.

In your packets you can see that we have a night-service warrant for Mr. Reginald Weezy Stokes and his baby mama, Rachelle Shaazz Washington. They reside within the confines of scenic Nickerson Gardens.

Several hoots followed. Nickerson Gardens is the largest public-housing project west of the Mississippi, with more than one thousand apartment units. The place has an armed-gangster-to-resident-population percentage probably as high as any place on Earth. It is not a safe place for anybody to be, really. An op at Nickerson Gardens carried with it more risk than other raids, which was fine by the operators, because nobody joins SWAT to be bored.

Mr. Stokes and Ms. Washington have been running a business out of their residence in the fourteen hundred block of East One-fourteenth Street. Its a pharmaceutical business.

A crack house? asked somebody from the back.

Thats a vulgar term, Hughes scolded with mock propriety. The Thirties are primary on this hit, the Forties are secondary, and the Fifties will cover perimeter.

Dogs? someone asked.

None that were aware of, which means there probably are.

After a full brief of the operational plan, the meeting broke into smaller individual team briefings, and we Thirties went over our specific mission.

Hamlin will be the breacher. Looks like a solid-core door with no bars on it.

No bars on a crack house in Nickerson Gardens? Are they crazy? Bobby Hamlin wondered aloud. Hamlin was newer on the team than all of us and bigger than most of us, and his responsibility as the breacher would be to open doors for the assault team.

The entry team will be three-two, three-six, myself, and three-one. Three-eight, three-three, and three-four will follow.

My call sign was Sam 36, or simply three-six. It identified me as a member of the SWAT team and, more particularly, the Thirties team. That morning, I would be the second operator through the door. Ahead of me would be James Benedict, a former US Marine; behind me would be team leader Jeff Hughes, and fourth in the door would be my friend Ryan March, a former Army Ranger captain.

Sparky, if we have a rabbit, hes yours, Jeff advised, using the nickname I was given after an aircraft incident. Mark, you back up Spark. Mark Crichton was a bulldog of an operator who sometimes chafed at the bawdy behavior of SWAT. But if Mark was backing you up, you never had to check to make sure someone was there.

A SWAT operator in full gear has no chance of catching a rabbita fleeing suspectin open ground. They wear approximately fifty pounds of gear, including a Kevlar helmet and tactical boots. But in a house, you can run but you cant hide. In my heart, I secretly hoped that somebody would run. It made things more fun.

The briefing adjourned at about 3:30 AM, and we moved into the garage area to stage our vehicles and gear. This was my favorite part of an op, and the thing I would miss the most, because this was my last SWAT operation. SWAT operators in the FBI spend approximately 25 to 30 percent of their time on SWAT training and operations, and the rest as regular FBI agents working cases, and my caseload had grown to the point where I could no longer do both. If I neglected my casesthe death penalty case of a man who machine-gunned a preschool class; the investigation of a nut who was planning to blow up an oil refineryinnocent people could get hurt. If I neglected my SWAT training, my partner could get killed (as an operator, your main job is to cover your partner). I couldnt quit my cases, and I wouldnt risk the lives of my friends. To this day, it is one of the most painful decisions I made in the FBI.

Breachers loaded their one-man rams, the master key for most doors. Best described as a three-foot-long, five-inch-diameter concrete-filled steel pipe with handles, the ram will open most doors very quickly. In case of a security-bar door, common in places like Nickerson Gardens, SWAT breachers also carry a hydraram, a mini version of the jaws of life used by the fire department. If needed, they also have torches, metal saws, and, everybodys favorite, a strong hook and chain connected to a truck. Other agents loaded CO2 fire extinguishers, which seem to intimidate even the most aggressive guard dogs. Of course, if that doesnt work, a 10mm slug always will.

We rode inside the Suburbans to the staging area a mile from the Gardens. Once in the neighborhood, we got on the boards and headed out. Three minutes later, we were sitting at yellow, a block from the target location. The tactical operations center (TOC) a few blocks away provided the last intel brief before the hit, courtesy of the FBIs surveillance team, the Special Operations Group: SOG reports lights on and movement in the target location.

It was 4:30 AMdid they ever sleep? I found myself taking a very deep breath and exhaling. At that second, the overall SWAT team commander, Big Daddy Dan Kurtz, came on the radio. This was it. I knew the next order by rote:

I have control  all teams move to green and execute.

I snapped the condition lever from SAFE to BURST (which fires three rounds with each trigger pull), and Crichton, our driver that morning, accelerated briskly down the street, turning sharply onto 114th Street. As we turned onto the street, headlights were doused on all vehicles and we sped quickly down a narrow street with parked cars whizzing by on either side.

Stay in the middle, I silently begged Crichton.

The lead Suburban carrying the Forties came to a stop, followed by our truck. Silently, we dismounted from the vehicle and trotted toward the front door of the target residence, our rubber-soled boots muffling our steps. The Forties hurried to their perimeter position, moving around the side of the building, always careful to avoid the neck-high clotheslines endemic to the projects. I found Benedict and tailgated him to the front door as quickly and as quietly as I could. Behind me, I felt rather than heard Hughes keeping up. At the front door, Hamlin arrived simultaneously, carrying the ram. March, the number four operator, squeezed Hughess shoulder, Hughes squeezed mine, and I squeezed Benedicts. We were ready.

I saw Benedict nod to Hamlin, who began a mighty backswing with the ram. He put his body into the incoming arc of the ram and hit the door perfectly, right above the door latch, and the door gave way as if blown into the room by explosives. Benedict leaped forward like a car at a drag race, and I struggled to keep up.

The lights were indeed on in the first room, which was the living room.

FBI! FBI! FBI! Get down! Get down! we screamed, as much a tension release as it was a warning to the occupants.

Benedict turned hard right deep into the room, clearing the corner in front of him as I turned left, clearing my corner. Hughes was by me so fast I never saw him; I only saw March enter out of the corner of my eye. Clearing the corner took less than a second, and I turned long to address the subjects in the room. Several fell to the ground, hands over their heads; others stood frozen, panicked. A tatted-up, muscular kid, probably eighteen years old, wearing only boxers and low-hanging basketball shorts, ran.

He sprinted right to left in front of me, directly up the narrow stairway, as we screamed uselessly for him to stop. The stairways in Nickerson Gardens are notoriously narrow. Maybe two to three feet wide.

Rabbit! I yelled, and started up the stairs as fast as I could move in fifty pounds of gear. I heard Crichton fall in behind me, and I heard his breath as we ran up the stairs. Halfway up the flight, we heard a loud slam.

Shit, he went to ground, I thought as I ran up the stairs. Why did he run? Why did he close the door? Was he running for a weapon in the room? Shitshitshit!

At the top of the stairs, I got bad news. The landing, all nine square feet of it, ended with three closed doors in a U pattern: one to my left, one to my right, and one dead-ahead of me. No matter which door he went into, we didnt have cover if he wanted to shoot through the door.

I had to think! What was the floor plan that morning? Which one was the bathroomright, left, or long? Crichton was close behind me, but our bulky gear didnt give us enough room to stand in the hall together. He was on the top step before the landing.

Mark pointed two fingers to his eyes, then to each of the doors, quizzically: SWAT sign-language for Did you see which door he went into?

I answered his question with the unofficial SWAT signal for I dont know: I shrugged my shoulders and rolled my eyes.

It didnt matter. We had already been on the landing too long.

Just pick a door! I chided myself.

Nodding quickly toward the door on the left, Mark reached over to the knob. I locked the MP5 into my right cheek so I could see the red dot through the sight front of me. Silently mouthing and nodding, Three, two  , Mark sharply twisted the knob and threw the door open. I took one step into the room, heaving most of my weight against the door to ensure that nobody was behind it.

It was the bathroom. I could clear the room with my peripheral vision alone. It was empty. Two doors left. Fifty-fifty chance. My heart raced. It wasnt from the run up the stairs, either. What was the asshole doing in that room!

I nodded toward the room ahead of me, and Mark bladed himself between me and the wall so that he could reach the doorknob. I had both my hands full with my MP5. Again, I counted down silently, nodding with each count. Mark swung the door open and I lunged into the room, hammering the door against the wall with my shoulder, clearing the corners as quickly as I could. But before I even got to the last corner of the small room, I knew from peripheral vision that no one was in there. The room was empty save for a solitary ironing board. I cleared the closet silently, then moved back to the hallway, where Mark was already covering the last door.

There was no question now where the gangbanger was. He was behind that door. He had heard us breach the other two doors, and he had an idea of how long it would be before I got to his door. There would be no element of surprise. He would be waiting for me.

I knew his heart was beating as hard as mine was. The difference was that he knew what I was going to do and where I was going to be. I had no idea of anything. Mark positioned his hand near the doorknob, ready to turn it at my signal. Once he was ready, I had the quickest, slightest thought that I didnt want to go in. No, I mean I really didnt want to go in. But if I thought about that for more than half a second, it would become a debate in my mind. It was a case of mind over matteror wisdom. I began the silent countdown, Three two I didnt want to get shot in Nickerson Gardens. Not on my last op.

On one, Mark threw the door open and I burst in, hitting the swinging door with my right shoulder. I instantly saw not one but two males in the room, and the one I chased up the stairs was leaping from the closet toward a bed to my left. The male on the left stood in a corner screaming. Things were moving all over the place, and the world seemed to slow down.

I followed the gangster with my red dot in his leap toward the bed, shouting, Get down! Show me your hands! Show me your hands!

He dug his hands under the covers, under a pillow, as if he was reaching for something hidden. I could not enter the tiny room deep enough for Mark to enter without having my MP5 within reach of the gangster, so I was in the room alone. The second male in the room was a boy, maybe eleven, and he had his hands over his ears and was shrieking, Dont shoot me! Dont shoot me!

He was not a threat, so I could concentrate on the idiot on the bed. He stared at me, then down at his hands. His head was shaved; he wore nothing from the waist up, and he was tatted all over his arms and back. The bedspread on the bed was brown.

Show me your hands! I screamed again.

He looked me in the eyes and ignored my command.

That was three times. I had no choice. He could have a gun. He could shoot me; he could shoot Mark. It wasnt a decision anymore; it was a trained response.

Time slowed even further. Sound seemed to stop. I put the red dot just below the top of his head, because from years of range time, I knew that inside of twenty-five yards, the red dot was skewed high at this close distance. If I put the dot between his eyes, the round would likely impact his chin or neck. I checked behind the gangster to see where any bullets would go if they continued on through him. A miss from eight feet was not going to happen. Long rounds would go through the front wall of the apartment, not into the next room.

My trigger finger was on the side of the weapon above the trigger as wed been trained. Any time you are on an op and touch the trigger with your finger, it is so you can shoot something or someone. I moved my finger to the trigger and began applying the measured pressure that I had practiced tens of thousands of times. I was surprised by how automatic and controlled my reactions were. I was about to end a life, and it was second nature.

When the finger began to move to the trigger, the gangster flinched. He threw his empty hands out from under the blanket and shouted, Dont shoot!

Sound returned to the room. I was immediately aware of loud screams from the kid in the corner, and they were almost instantly unbearable.

Get on the floor! Get on the floor! I shouted at the idiot on the bed. He threw himself on the floor.

Hands stretched out at your sides, palms up! I ordered, and he complied.

Mark, can you get by me to cuff? I asked.

Mark answered by sliding around me, grabbing the gangsters wrist, and in one fluid move twisting it behind his back as he dropped his full weight to his knees on the subjects back as if hed practiced it a thousand times. Knowing Mark, he had. The gangster didnt allow us even the pleasure of hearing him grunt. Mark searched him, and he was clean. He then tore the sheets off the bed. Nothing. The idiot gangbanger had been playing chicken.

The kid in the room turned out to be his kid brother, and older brother the gangster was showing how tough he was. The kid brother was hysterical and had sunk to the floor in a sitting-up fetal position, rocking back and forth, sobbing, Dont kill me for what my mama did! Dont kill me for what my mama did!

Those sobs truly were heartbreaking. I can still hear them. The poor kid was in his pajamas, and tears streamed down his cheeks and dropped off his jaw. I was torn up. I tried to calm him down, not realizing initially that the guys in the black masks with the helmets and the submachine guns who just almost killed his brother were not going to relax him. I squeezed the remote microphone switch on my finger.

Upstairs is clear. One in custody. Black male  any chance of sending a female agent up here? Weve got a hysterical little boy. I realized that I had forgotten to breathe for about the last minute and a half. I was completely out of breath.

Ten-four. Were code four downstairs, came the response.

Mark escorted Idiot down the stairs, and a female agent arrived almost immediately. As I walked downstairs I was suddenly aware that I had very little strength in my legs. I felt like Id just finished a marathon. Once back in the living room, I covered the suspects during a cursory search until I was released.

I walked out the front door and squinted in the bright morning light. When had the sun come up? I spied Hughes, March, and Benedict sitting on a low wall near our Suburban, helmets in their laps, MP5s next to them. I took off my helmet and wordlessly walked toward them, the sweat inside my flight suit cooling rapidly in the light breeze. Under the flak vest, I was soaked to the skin.

Hiding in the crapper, Steve? March asked.

Yup! Went in to rescue you and realized someone just forgot to flush, I answered.

I unzipped the pocket on the calf of my flight suit, retrieved my Blackberry, and powered it on, noticing that my gloved hands were shaking. Id nearly shot somebody. On my last SWAT op.

A minute later, the phone rang. According to the phone, it was my wife, Michelle. I looked at my watch: a little after 6:00 AM. Her alarm had just gone off.

Hello? I said, trying not to sound hoarse.

Oh, I didnt expect you to answer. Youre finished already? Michelle said in a chipper voice.

Were done. I didnt, couldnt, tell her everything that had just happened, because I knew I couldnt adequately express it.

Did it go OK? she asked.

Im fine, I said, lying. I wasnt really fine. Something had happened that would stay with me a long time, yet something so small that I wouldnt even tell my friends. I knew that everybody on the SWAT team had experienced something similar or worse in their careers, most more than once. Nobody would bat an eye if I mentioned it.

Michelles voice piped up again, sweetly. Were out of cereal. Could you stop on the way home?

Sure.
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Least Likely to Become an FBI Agent

WHEN I WAS in high school, had anybody shown me a video of my last SWAT raid, I would never have believed that the SWAT guy running up the stairs was me. I was easily the most unlikely SWAT candidate that I can imagine. I grew up a shy, polite, well-meaning, law-abiding, churchgoing kid. I didnt get beat up in the schoolyard, but neither was anybody afraid of me beating them up.

My dad, Lieutenant Kenneth Moore, was an investigator with the Office of Special Investigations (OSI) of the United States Air Force in San Antonio, Texas, when I was born. He had gone in to be a pilot, but weeks from graduation from jets, a medical situation ended his military flying career. With years to go in his military commitment, he literally opened a catalog of jobs in the air force to determine what he was going to do with his life. The OSI intrigued him.

Im grateful it did. He had no idea at the time, but he and I and our families were changed forever by his leafing through that catalog. I do not believe in coincidence. Why and how God moves people in certain ways is beyond me, but Im still glad Dad wasnt hungry when he perused that catalog, or I might this day be a chef. And I truly hate cooking.

My mom, Betty, had a movie-star face and figure and had been a cheerleader, homecoming queen, and so on, dating only the most eligible athletes at her high school in Salem, Oregon. Dad was not one of those guys. Not that he was ugly or insufferable; he just wasnt the quarterback of the football team, which was an important personality trait to my mom when she was eighteen. One thing Ken was, was persistent, and he apparently out-prayed the other guys. Mom, I think, didnt so much fall for him as just give in. Possibly against her will, she fell very much in love with him.

Dad was the grandson of a Baptist missionary and a Welsh coal miner and could not have come from a more conservative family. He seemed to excel at everything he tried. He was an Eagle Scout and faithfully attended Antioch Baptist Church (founded by his grandfather) and, later, Capitol Southern Baptist Church, where he met my mom. Mom was the granddaughter of an Arkansas circuit preacher, and her Okie dad had moved the family to Oregon to escape the dust bowl of the 1930s. They defined poor and ate mostly what they grew or killed. Her folks and the seven kids raised all sorts of crops on their tiny acreage in Salem and kept chickens for eggs and, well, fried chicken. Growing up, I was truly terrified by the realization that my mom, when she was a child, used to go outside, choose a chicken, and wring its neck, and an hour later would be frying it for dinner. This was what I grew up with, a mom who could take a whole bird and within a half an hour wed be eating fried chicken and gravy. It was a way of life: with the exception of Thanksgiving, I have no recollection of eating anything but fried chicken at Grandma Bishops house.

Dad was the number-one air force ROTC cadet at the University of Oregon in 1956, and a few weeks after he and Betty married the summer after he graduated, they turned their 1952 Chevy southbound for pilot training in San Antonio, Texas, stopping on the way at a thing called a theme park that had just opened the previous summer: Disneyland. Two years later, I was born, likely completing their bucket list.

After the air force, dad returned to Portland and applied for the FBI. When he was accepted, the family moved to Silver Spring, Maryland, and then to Phoenix upon his graduation.

In a tradition that is familiar to FBI or military families, Dad went ahead to his assignment and Mom returned to Oregon from our temporary digs in Maryland; packed up the house, two kids, and her single most valued possession, a Siamese cat, Bandit; and moved us to Arizona. As she was packing, she wrote dad a letter (remember those?) asking him about arrangements for the move. What should she do with her beloved Bandit? Dad, certain that Betty would understand a joke when she saw one, simply wrote, Give the stupid thing away. When we arrived on the train (remember those?) in Phoenix, Dad looked around at the luggage and asked, Wheres Bandit? You know how people say, Someday well laugh about this? Well, someday has never come for that one.

I was just four years old, and relocating to Phoenix was my sixth move. Our family motto was Home is where the key fits. Moves across the country became second nature to me and my two-years-younger sister, Mary Kay. I eventually moved fifteen times before I went to college. The only families I knew who moved more than us owned camels.

Phoenix was a dream for my dad. He was making arrests, was in a small office with a minimum of bureaucracy, and had good cases. But he had made a serious mistake in the FBI Academy that caught up with him in Phoenix. When given the foreign language aptitude test, he did his best, just like Eagle Scouts always do. This was the worst thing he could have done. When the New York FBI office convinced FBIHQ that they needed more speakers of the Czechoslovakian language to work counterintelligence in New York City, headquarters leafed through its language aptitude results and found Ken Moore at the head of the class. He was immediately ripped out of his ideal life in Phoenix and transferred to the Defense Language Institute (DLI) at the Presidio of Monterey to begin his study of Czech. (Years later, when I was in the FBI Academy, I was given the same language aptitude test. I was not an Eagle ScoutI tried scouting but quit after I earned my Sneaky Pragmatism merit badge. My failure on that test was so complete that I was brought before a board of agents to determine whether I had thrown the test. Of course, I had.) So, less than two years after arriving in Arizona, we had moved on to spend a wonderful year in Monterey, California, and then it was off to New York City.

I got to live in a fourth-floor walk-up in Queens, New York, and for me, the entire city of New York was one big theme park: riding the Staten Island Ferry and the subway, opening fire hydrants on hot, muggy days, and playing stickball in the streets. I still wonder why home plate and second base at Yankee Stadium arent shaped like manhole covers. It was an adventure I still treasure. But after a year, Dad moved us to New Jersey for a more suburban setting.

After nearly half a decade with the New York field office, it was clear that Dad would be in New York for the rest of his career, but he badly wanted to go back West. To do so, he had to resign from the FBI, something he still regrets. We moved three more times in four years and ended up in Chicago. As I neared driving age, purchasing a car became my number-one priority. But I needed money to do that. I found a small fast-food restaurant that, rumor had it, would illegally hire fifteen-year-olds. This was a place where carhops still went out to the cars and made change with four-barrel, chrome, belt-mounted coin changers. This was not retro then. I worked every chance I got, and twelve-hour days were not uncommon.

I would have earned enough for a car more quickly had I not spent nearly all I had on flying lessons. Since my dad told me bedtime stories about flying in the air force, I was desperate to be a pilot. I had to work almost twenty hours to earn enough for one flight lesson, which meant that I could fly only once or twice per month. But after a dozen hours, I was finally released to fly solo on an evening when light snow flurries were starting to fall, visibility was four miles, and the ceiling was two thousand feet. But I was flying a plane all by myself. I was ecstatic.

After this milestone, I started paying more attention to girls than to airplanes, and my money began to go toward more ground-bound transportation. I bought a 1969 GTO with the Ram Air IV engine. Why Dad let me do that I will never know. Owning that car introduced me to every policeman in our little suburb of Buffalo Grove, Illinois. I was once stopped with a carful of friends as we were all cheerfully downing beers as I drove. This, however, was a different era. The policeman asked me to walk to his car with him. He questioned me repeatedly about what we were doing, how many beers I had had, and things about my life and high school. I know now that what he was doing was trying to determine whether I was a bad kid doing the usual thing or a good kid doing an unusual thing. Apparently he was sufficiently convinced that I was a good kid making a bad mistake that he simply followed me home and made me leave the keys to the car looped over the antenna all night. The world has certainly changed since then.

It was not until several years later that I realized the value of the grace that the officer gave me that night. He is one of those officers (and there are several) for whom I would like to throw a party at this point in my life. Had he and others done what I deserved, I never would have been in the FBI.

Somehow, I made it through into my senior year without getting arrested or screwing up my life in other ways. My dream of becoming an air force pilot took a huge step forward when I received a congressional nomination to the United States Air Force Academy. Once I had that on my horizon, I gave up all other options, notions, and life plans. But during a military physical, one eye was not 20/20, and my dreams of flying for the air force were dashed. I cannot put into words the devastation that one exam did to my life at the time. I fell into a yearlong depression, where partying and working on cars were about the only things I had the energy for.

At that point in my life, my dad was working for United Airlines, and we could hop airliners like hobos hop freight trains, so when my college-bound musical-prodigy sister jetted off to the West Coast to check out the Conservatory of Music at the University of the Pacific (UOP), I tagged along. Upon seeing the campus, the fraternities, and the distance from my depression and the Chicago winters, I decided that this would be my new start. At UOP, I entered a wonderland of fraternities, parties, and, oh  classes. I joined a fraternity, Alpha Kappa Lambda, almost immediately and within a semester had been named Social Czar. The Social Czar was an elected office that wielded mighty power in a frat, because the Czar planned the parties. I dated popular girls and picked up a job with United Airlines at Stockton Airport to make ends meet. Things were greatexcept for my grades and the occasional skirmish with the police.

One morning at 3 AM, the fraternity was having an intimate party with about three hundred close friends. Our thin-skinned, light-sleeping neighbors complained to the police, who didnt just arrive, they invaded. I was the most senior (coherent) fraternity officer, so I went outside to negotiate. This was 1979, the heart of the disco years, and everybody in the world had hair down to their collars. I hadnt seen an ear for a decade. Except on the policeman I met outside, whose car was parked on our lawn. He had a flattop haircut and, looking back, he reminds me so much of the drill instructor in the movie Full Metal Jacket, R. Lee Ermey, that I have trouble remembering anything else about him. His opening gambit was likely intended to soothe me, but in my somewhat inebriated state, it instead incited me:

Son, this party is over, he said. Son? I heard, my eyes turning red.

No, officer, this party is not over, I argued.

The officer kept his cool. How he did it, I do not know. Had I been him, I would have punched me. Sonthere he went againif the music isnt off in ten minutes, I will arrest everybody in that house as soon as they leave the front door.

I found this to be a ridiculous bluff. Thats ridiculous! I snorted. Theres three hundred people in there. He was looking at me like a drill sergeant looks at a new recruit, but I foolishly continued, How are you going to get three hundred people to jail? Where are you going to find a jail that can hold three hundred people!

And then I delivered the coup de grace: You dont even have enough handcuffs for three hundred people! How many pairs of handcuffs do you even have?

He slowly moved his face toward me until his nose was almost touching mine, and he stared directly into my eyes in a very intimidating manner. Son, I know I have at least one, and to prove it, he held it up to my face with one finger. There was no question in either of our minds whom that one pair of handcuffs was meant for.

I turned toward the house and screamed, Partys over!
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During my last year of college, my easy life unraveled. I had run out of energy, sleep, excuses and options. It had all seemed like a game until my senior year, when the reality of graduation sobered me up. I had lost interest in studying law in my junior yearthe same year I had the pleasure of meeting that Stockton police officerand I didnt really know what I wanted to do with my life after I graduated. Initially, I decided on continuing in a management training program with United Airlines, but in January 1980, just five months before my graduation, United began a massive contraction and all management training programs were canceled. I swallowed the bitter pill of continuing to work as a ticket agent and ramp agent (bag smasher) until I could find more appropriate employment, but eight weeks before graduation, United laid me off.

Then, a funny thing happened. My shift at United had run from 5:00 AM until 7:00 AM, six days a week, for more than two years. At union scale, I made more in those two hours than my friends did in six hours at minimum wage. But I was paying a price I was unaware of. Living in a fraternity meant that lights didnt go out until after midnight on any night, and didnt go out at all on Friday or Saturday. I awoke every morning at 4:00 AM, returned to the frat for breakfast at 7:30, and then went to 8:00 AM classes. I would occasionally nap in the afternoon, but in actual fact, I was sleeping less than four hours a night for more than two years. (Airlines dont have holidays.) On my day off, Tuesday, I would usually sleep all day, thinking I had caught up. Most Friday and Saturday nights there were parties, so I frequently didnt bother to sleep at all those nights.

Now, suddenly, I was sleeping eight hours a night. It was if my mind suddenly cleared from anesthesia. Colors became brighter, my mood drastically improved, and alcohol was no longer necessary for me to enjoy a party. I could study and remember what I had read. I didnt fall asleep in class every day. I discovered amazing things; I didnt like how my girlfriend treated me, so we broke up. I discovered that most people dont go through life craving sleep. And I remembered that God had been a big part of my life until somewhere in high school.

I realized that I had let my relationship with God completely deteriorate. It was not that I had ever ceased believing in God, but I had certainly wanted him to keep his distance, because I had some things that I wanted to do that I didnt think he would approve of. Now, I had the chance to rekindle our relationship, and I took it, becoming involved for a short time with Bible studies on campus (boy, were they surprised to see me) before I graduated. In reality, the layoff was a blessing in disguise.

After graduation, I didnt want to stay in Stockton and try to hold on to college life, which I considered pathetic. I had nowhere else to go but home to my parentswhich I found only slightly less pathetic. In fact, it was devastating and humiliating. I spent six months living at home, fighting depression, and sending out resumes sometime seventy-five at a time. A friend from United at Stockton got me a job throwing bags at Oakland Airport for the summer, so at least I didnt need to borrow money. When that job ended in August, my dad found a friend at Lockheed Missiles & Space, a defense contractor in Sunnyvale, who said he would get me an interview, but likely just for an hourly, menial job. But even that was better than the twin joys of daytime TV and self-loathing.

Lockheed was simply a miracle. After several interviews (which I thought excessive just for an hourly job in the document reproduction office), I was offered a job I couldnt have imagined: government security representative, a salaried management position. Lockheed made spy satellites, and the work was highly classified. My job was to monitor government-mandated security policy and practice for classified programs. I dealt with the organizations that ordered the reconnaissance systems, the birds that Lockheed built. I worked with the air force, the National Reconnaissance Organization (NRO), and the CIA in developing and implementing security plans to keep the design programs secret. It was interesting work, to say the least. I was making great money and I found that when I wasnt living in a frat, I could really excel at things I put my mind to. I was promoted three times in two years, and my salary nearly doubled in the same time frame. But at the end of those three years, I realized that the gee whiz element of the job had worn off, and my single enjoyable challenge was advancing in the department. I really didnt live for the job; I lived to leave every day. It was my first bout of career-ADD, a malady that afflicts me still. After a few years of doing the same thing, I began to yearn for something more. I looked in every direction, and my dad encouraged me to apply to the FBI.

The FBI? I thought. I might as well send in an application to be a Supreme Court justice. I knew that the Bureau received more than ten thousand applications per year to fill between zero and one thousand agent slots, depending on the economy and the need.

But Dad kept bringing it up. Finally, on St. Patricks Day, 1983, as much to prove to him that I was noncompetitive as to actually try to get a job, I applied to be a special agent. I thought it would be interesting if I just got a letter from the Federal Bureau of Investigation, even if it was a rejection letter.

I did, and it was.

The reason for my rejection, they said, was lack of full-time work experience. The FBI requires three years of such for agent candidates who do not have a law degree and are not CPAs. But I felt that they certainly had better reasons to turn me down. I actually did have three years of work experience, and I called the person who signed the letter in order to point that out to her.

To my stunned surprise, I got a letter two weeks later from the FBI scheduling me for a written exam. I was elated but still doubted that I had a chance. There were, according to Special Agent Karen Whitfield, twelve thousand applicants on the FBIs candidate list who had taken the written test and were currently qualified. The next fiscal year, they were going to hire only one thousand. Quick math brought me back to reality. Not having anything to lose, however, I took the test. I was told that I would have to be ranked in the top one or two thousand candidates to even be asked to interview. With those odds, I put the FBI out of my mind and went on with life.

I had found an awesome church nearby and had been asked to run the junior high school group. In July 1983 a dozen counselors and I took two hundred middle-schoolers to a church camp in the Sierras. On Thursday of that week, I got an emergency phone call. Remember, these were the days before cell phones, and there was only one phone at the entire camp.

The call was from my folks. Much to the surprise of everyone who knew me, I had nailed the written test. I was ranked 612 out of 12,000 applicants. I didnt know how that could be possible; I still dont know how that was possible. But I didnt want a recount for fear that they had made a horrible miscalculation.
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The interview the next week with a panel of agents was not too difficult, but they did their best to trip me up and get me flustered. They pressured me on questions about my background in the fraternity, my mediocre grades, and why I thought I had what it took to be an FBI agent. I was shocked when I sailed through to the next phase. I started to allow myself to get excited.

But then I almost lost everything. I was called in by my recruiting agent, Whitfield, for a standard big-picture discussion of my background, prior to an extensive, detailed investigation by the FBI.

Whitfield slid a piece of paper under my nose, which said, in part,  under penalty of perjury I swear and/or affirm that I have not  and below that was a long list of a things that I had never doneand some that I had. Its not as though I had ever advocated for the overthrow of the government, spied for the Soviets, etc., but when it got to illegal use of controlled substances, my heart stopped. I looked up at her and asked her to define controlled substance and then illegal use. I began to sweat. I had smoked marijuana, and unlike a future president, I actually inhaled. I agonized over what to do for about ten seconds as I pretended to be reading the list carefully. Then, with nothing to lose (I thought), I started to sign the sheetthen stopped.

As casually as I could fake it, I asked her, If somebody had done one of those things, would they still be eligible for the FBI?

It depends on which thing it is, she said, pretending that she hadnt heard that same question a hundred times. For example, murder is a disqualifier.

You guys are strict, I ad libbed, trying to break the tension only I felt.

Murderers generally take too much sick leave, she parried.

How about  marijuana? Just curious, I said, lobbing the question as if my curiosity was that of a social scientist.

Well, it would depend on the amount of use and how long ago it was, she returned, knowing exactly where the conversation was headed.

Hypothetically, what if it was about five years ago, and just recreational use, I said.

Likely, that would not be a huge problem, she allowed.

Really? I asked incredulously.

Unless, of course, you lied about it and swore in writing that you hadnt. That would be perjury, and were really sensitive about perjury.

I looked down in horror at the sheet I had almost completely signed.

Steve, she leveled with me, do you think we could staff the FBI with agents with the creativity, curiosity, and life experiences we need if we disallowed everybody who had experimented with things like that?

After a short pause, I blurted, I think I screwed up the form.

Then tear it up, and lets talk, she with a wry smile.
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Three months later, I received a letter from the FBI offering me the position of special agent candidate. But you really do not consider yourself hired by the FBI until you have been given a date to report to the FBI Academy for training, known as the class date. My class date was listed as December 11, 1983. The last sentence of the letter stated, This matter is confidential and no publicity should be given to this appointment. Cool! It was already sounding exciting! Of course, as soon as I opened the letter, I began giving it as much publicity as I could.
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Quantico Theme Park

ON SUNDAY, DECEMBER 11, 1983, I reported to the San Francisco field office of the FBI and was sworn in as an employee. Not as a special agent but as an employee. I wouldnt be an agent until I graduated from the academyif I graduated.

At my swearing-in, the special agent in charge (SAC) of the San Francisco office was gracious enough to have a photographer standing by, and we took photos with my mom and my dad, my grandparents, my sister, my brother-in-law, and several people I didnt even know. When everything was over, an FBI agent drove me directly to San Francisco International Airport, where I boarded a nonstop to Washington. The agent even waited in the boarding lounge to ensure that I actually got on the plane. The FBI leaves nothing to chance. Apparently, years ago, an agent candidate had gotten drunk in an airport bar and missed his flight. It was a short career.

The cab ride from Dulles Airport to Washington, DC, that night was magical. There are few things more moving to me than the sight of the Washington Monument, the Lincoln Memorial, and the Capitol Rotunda, all spectacularly lit as you enter the city. It was doubly so during that cab ride, knowing that I was entering the city to begin service to the United States for the next twenty-five to thirty years of my life.

Arriving at the hotel near Georgetown, I was too excited and hungry to sleep. I headed to the only place to get some food within walking distance, the hotel bar. The small, dark bar was nearly empty, though the Washington Redskins were playing the Dallas Cowboys on Sunday-night football. There was only one other person sitting at the bar as I watched the game, munching on peanuts and waiting for my nachos, and she was without any doubt a Dallas Cowboys fan. She had a nearly debilitating Texas drawl and screamed every time Dallas made a first down. I also noticed that she was good looking. She was blonde, about my age, and unmarried, according to her left hand.

We began talking about the game. Being an adopted San Franciscan, I was the sworn enemy of the Dallas Cowboys and mentioned that to her. She took the bait.

For the next hour and a half, we bet rounds on quarter scores, first downs, and sometimes even individual plays. Her name was Loren Thornton, she said, and she was an assistant district attorney from Corpus Christi, Texas, and she was in Washington for a conference. I, after being told to keep my FBI affiliation confidential, told her that I worked for Lockheed Missiles & Space and was out there for a program review. Loren was drinking Glenlivet single-malt scotch, neat, and only Glenlivet, thank you very much. I was drinking beer. Whatever was on tap was my brand. Due to the disparity in the cost of the drinks, it seemed to me that I had the most to lose financially. Fortunately for me, the Cowboys were having a bad night, and I rarely had to buy a drink; the Skins took the Boys 35 to 10.

A little tipsy, Loren and I bade each other good night. We had had so much fun that I thought she would think it odd if I didnt at least ask for her number or something. I saw no reason to, though, because I would be occupied for the next four months and she was returning to Corpus Christi. But when she didnt even bat an eye at that, my feelings took a hit. My first sacrifice for the FBI.
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The next morning dawned snowy. I got dressed in my darkest suit, a crisp white shirt, and my reddest tie, went downstairs for breakfast, and began to anticipate the most exciting day of my life. That day, I would begin to become an FBI agent. I grabbed a five-minute ride to the FBI building on Tenth and Pennsylvania Avenue. I was in a state of absolute giddy disbelief as I walked down underneath the building to a large reception area on the first (underground) floor, just past where the bomb-blast deflectors are.

I found several dozen of my future colleagues, all with their luggage for the academy and all wearing dark gray suits, crisp white shirts, and very red ties. It was as quiet as a church.

After what seemed like hours sitting and standing around in that room, two agents entered, also dressed in dark suits, white shirts, and red ties. They were to be our class counselors. The forty-two of us were escorted into a classroom with sloped theater-type seating. I was one of the last ones to walk into the room, because I didnt want to be one of the first.

As I walked in, I scanned the class to see who I was about to spend the next few months of my life with. There in the middle of the room was Loren, the Cowboys fan from the night before. We made eye contact and smiled, realizing that we had started our friendship by lying to each others faces.

After a brief orientation, we were off to Quantico, Virginia, and the FBI Academy. It would be an understatement to say that our class was eclectic. We had several Special Forces soldiers, military pilots, policemen, lawyers, a couple of CPAs, a third-grade schoolteacher, a psychologist, a CIA case officer, and several assistant district attorneys. There were only a few of us (like me) who had no specific specialty that was going to do the FBI any good. The class ranged in age from twenty-four to thirty-five. The vast majority were married and most had kids. I was the second-youngest in the class at twenty-five. And I felt like it. In the class of forty-two, I counted about eighteen women.

The initial physical performance testing was scheduled for the very next morning. It was a rigorous morning that left everyone exhausted. We were tested with sit-ups, push-ups, pull-ups, a sprinting relay, several other events, and a two-mile run. Points from 1 to 10 were awarded for each event. You were not allowed to zero any event, and you had to score an overall minimumI believe 23 out of 50 possible points. At the end of the first exhausting day, our class of forty-two had been reduced to forty.

Each day at the academy was broken down into different curriculum blocks. Most days, we would spend at least three hours on the firing range with our pistols, shotguns, and rifles. Other days we stayed in the classroom, where we would study federal law, rules of evidence, basic investigation, about 250 federal laws that we were to enforce, abnormal psychology, FBI procedure, basic forensics, and so on. Several times a week we would practice defensive tactics, a combination of tae kwon do, boxing, wrestling, and getting our butts kicked. It was enjoyable, at least for the guys, but it was a rare day when at least one agent candidate didnt come back to class bloodied and/or black-eyed for our next classroom session.

With the exception of the firing range, my favorite place at the FBI Academy was a bar known as the Boardroom. It was not fancy in the least, but it did serve beer on tap and a range of well drinks. It was only open in the evening till eleven, but it was absolutely the best place in the world for me during those four months.

In the FBI Academy, there is at all times a session of what is known as the National Academy. The National Academy is a large class of police executives and high-ranking officers who come to Washington for an extensive law enforcement executive course. It is kind of a graduate school for cops. But executives or not, a cop is a cop. So in the Boardroom at any given time are probably thirty to fifty policemen and twenty to thirty FBI agent candidates.

One of my favorite memories of the Boardroom was the day that the Dirty Harry movie The Enforcer was playing on the big TV. In the movie, Tyne Daly plays Harry Callahans (Clint Eastwoods) partner. Halfway through the movie, the two are engaged in a gunfight on Alcatraz Island against a group of thugs, and the cops and agents in the Boardroom were shouting at the screen at every mistake in tactics or shooting. At one point in the film, Daly dramatically takes cover to reload. As she does, she ejects the spent brass from her gun into her right hand and puts it in her pocketan unforgivable sin in law enforcement. Instantly, an indignant, angry scream of No! erupted from fifty cops, and beer was thrown at the TV. It took several minutes for order to be restored.

During those first eight weeks I had begun to hang around with a tall, thin redhead named Patty Muller. I say hang around because dating among class members was strictly prohibited. However, within weeks of arrival, half the single people were dating the other half of the single people. Heck, even some of the married people were dating. The academy during those first few weeks was very similar to the proverbial remote desert island. This was common for all classes, it seemed. The Bureau preferred a dont ask, dont tell policy.

But someone mustve realized that Patty and I were dating. This became frighteningly obvious during one of our boxing classes, when I was taken from the guy I was paired with for boxing, who was about my size and weight, and was told to box Patty. This, I thought, was not a great idea. I should have known they were on to us the previous week, when we were instructed to wrestle each other. That time it backfired on them, of course, because I loved it.

However, boxing her was something completely different. Even though we wore the big gloves and the headgear, it still hurt to get hit in the face.

When the whistle blew to start our first round, I began tapping on Pattys headgear and thumping her lightly on the shoulder with my boxing gloves, halfheartedly. She was doing the same back to me. This went on for the entire thirty-second round, after which our boxing coach pulled me aside. He told me in no uncertain terms that he had been watching me and had realized that I was not putting anything into my punches.

You need to give her realistic training, he ordered.

Through my mouth guard I mumbled, Why camp a girl gib her reearistic craiming?

Because the people we arrest are called bad guys, not bad girls! Do you want the first time shes punched in the face to be in an alley when shes trying to arrest somebody? If thats the case, we wont know until she gets punched whether she collapses into a pool of tears while the bad guy grabs her gun and kills her or whether she can actually take a punch and stand up and defend herself! He whispered so loudly into my ear it hurt. But what he said made some sense.

What youre doing is essentially killing her! he hissed dramatically. Then, he made a point that was, if anything, just as compelling. And if you dont punch her, I will use you as my boxing demonstration partner for the rest of the month.

I had seen what he had done to his other partners. It was less a demonstration technique than a method of unofficial discipline. I nodded.

I went back to Patty with a new plan in mind: hit her. I decided to start hating myself right then so that I wouldnt lose any time later. I didnt want to get beat up totally by the instructor, so I warned Patty that he had said I needed to punch a little harder. She nodded, but Im not sure she understood what that meant. For about fifteen seconds I continued the tap-tap-tap sparring I had done previously. At that point, the instructor walked around behind Patty so that I couldnt avoid seeing him. He made direct eye contact with me with a grave and threatening stare. I knew what I had to do, and I took a deep breath and exhaled and took a jab at Pattys headgear about twice as hard as I had on any given punch yet to that point.

The speed of the jab and its unexpectedness caught Patty completely by surprise, and she wasnt quick enough to block it. I, too, was surprised by the force with which it caught her squarely on her right cheekbone. Her head jerked sideways, and I instantly felt like a punk. I had connected better than I wanted to. I leaned forward to see if she was okay, placing my gloves on each of her shoulders.

I never saw her glove coming at me until it was too late to duck. It was a classic right hook, and a good one, connecting with the force of an earthquake and making the world spin. I looked up at her and saw her dancing in a Muhammad Ali float like a butterfly footwork celebration. But she was blurry; I couldnt focus. I thought I had a concussion, but Patty showed me that my contacts had come out and were on my cheek. As I later learned, Patty had older brothers, and that wasnt the first punch shed ever taken  or thrown.

But my favorite part of the academy was firearms. I reveled in shooting, even though it was something that I had very little prior experience with. We shot skeet, we shot shotguns, and we fired M16s out to several hundred yards.

I remember the day we were given our Smith & Wesson model 13 .357, brand-new, still in the box. It was the coolest thing I had ever gotten. The gun room itself was one of my favorite places in the academy. It smelled of Hoppes 9, a gun-cleaning solvent that permeated every surface in that entire room. It had a sweet smell that was so intoxicating to some of us that we used to joke that if women wore Hoppes 9 instead of Chanel No. 5 theyd get more action from the agents.

One of my better friends at the academy was Larry Page, who would go on to a spectacular career in the FBI. Larry had been a member of Delta Force, an army special operations team. He later became a member of the FBIs elite Hostage Rescue Team as well as a sniper. Years later, he transferred to Los Angeles and was my supervisor. He was better than me at just about everything at the academy, but I tried to close the gap. He was also friends with Patty Muller, and after Patty and I stopped hanging out, she and Larry began hanging out.

Unwittingly, Patty almost caused Larry and me to face an early departure from the academy. In the twelfth week, each class took a major firearms test: we had to qualify with firearms to continue in the FBI. Pattys shooting lane was between Larrys and mine. Neither of us could avoid noticing that Patty had significant problems with the shotgun. FBI shotguns fired either double-aught buckshot or monstrous rifled slugs that weighed an ounce apiece. With either load, the shotgun kicked like a mule, but with the slugs, it was worse. Nobody in the class enjoyed firing the slugs, because we ended up bruised every time. But it was much harder on hundred-pound women, for whom the blow was substantially greater by comparison; they tended to flinch before firing, making it almost impossible to put the round into the target with any consistency from fifty yards. Larry and I watched every day as Patty missed the kill zone in the target, or even missed the entire target when firing the shotgun.

Unfortunately, part of the crucial twelve-week test that determined your future in the FBI required firing two rifled-slug rounds from fifty yards and putting both of them into the target. If Patty had ever achieved that feat in the previous twelve weeks, it was news to Larry and Me.

The last firearms practice before the test was the Monday of the twelfth week; the following day we would have our test. Because Monday was simply another warm-up for the test, the targets were not important to Larry or me. Incredibly, each of us decided, and neither told the other, to fire one round into our own target and one round into Pattys target to build her confidence. Neither of us knew, either, that Patty had spent the weekend practicing with a firearms instructor and had gotten the shotgun down perfectly and was looking forward to proving it.

Unaware of all this, on the whistle Larry and I each fired one round into our target and then put our second round into Pattys target. To our horror, at the whistle ending the test, Patty had four rifled slug holes dead center in her target. Larry and I each had one. It didnt take an FBI agent to figure that one out. But they had one anyway: the instructor.

As usual, the instructor walked down the line to check our targets. Larry and I looked at each other frantically, realizing what we had done. We were terrified. Cheating could get you thrown out of the FBI. Even cheating for the benefit of someone else.

As the instructor passed my shooting position, he noted that I had uncharacteristically missed one round. He looked at me quizzically and asked, Partying this weekend, Moore?

I nodded nervously.

He then walked the short distance to Patty Muller and stared downrange at her target. Looking back at her dubiously, he asked, How many rounds did you fire, Ms. Muller?

Only two, I swear! she said in panic. She was truly confused.

By this point the instructor was also confused. He took two steps farther to Larry Pages shooting position and stared downrange, noting that the Delta Force Ranger had also missed the targetbut only once. He looked back at my target, then at Larrys, then at Pattys.

You could almost see the exact moment he figured it out. I would like to see Mr. Moore and Mr. Page at the bleachers at the back of the firearms range in ten seconds. This was bad.

This firearms instructor was a legend in the FBI. Benjamin Big Ben Sheffield had been a firearms instructor at the academy since it converted from swords to muskets. He could shoot skeet with a pistol. There was nothing I didnt think he could do with the gun. He was also six feet, seven inches tall and likely a good 225 pounds and spoke with a resonant bass voice. I believed that he could crush rocks into gravel in his baseball mitt-sized hands.

Larry and I jogged back to the bleachers at a good pace because of the tone we had heard in Sheffields voice. We watched Big Ben walk into the central firearms control booth as we waited, discussing what had happened. Despite our concern, we could barely keep from laughing when we realized that we had both had the same idea at the same time. We were especially cracked up by the genuinely confused look on Pattys face when she found four large slug holes in her target. But as we saw Sheffield walking slowly toward the bench where we waited, we sobered immediately. He had a shotgun in his right hand.

Do you suppose hes going to execute us? Larry asked.

This didnt help: I started to giggle. I forced myself to think that he might actually execute us, and that calmed me down. Without a word, Benjamin stood directly in front of Larry and me. He held up the shotgun horizontally in both hands, chest high (eye level to us) as if he were giving us a profile view of the weapon. He then spoke to us much like a college professor beginning a dramatic lecture.

This, gentleman, is a Remington Eight-Seventy, pump-action, twelve-gauge shotgun. It has an eighteen-inch hardened-steel barrel and a blued finish, he said calmly. It has a single-bead front sight and a seven-round magazine, and it fires rifled slugs at a velocity of one thousand six hundred feet per second. But if either of you ever again does anything like you just did, I will make it into a necktie for you.

Neither of us was too sure he wouldnt do it.

Get back on the line, he said sternly.

We had survived! To this day, Larry and I both believe that he was pleased that we had done what we had done but could not allow it to go unpunished. It is a desirable quality in the FBI for its class members to look out for one another. But I was relieved to be allowed to stay in the FBI after that.

Also around week twelve, a somewhat painful FBI tradition and rite of passage takes place: new agents are issued transfers to their first offices. This is when they find out where theyll spend the next few years of their lives. When agents enter on duty in the FBI, they are asked which of the fifty-nine offices they would prefer to be transferred to after the academy. This is known as their office of preference (OP). I now believe this question was asked simply for FBIHQs curiosity and amusement. It does not mean you are going to be assigned to that office, and in fact many people believe that telling the FBI that you want to go to an office will guarantee that you will not be sent there.

I listed my OP as Sacramento, because I had gone out a few times with a pretty blonde water-skier at Sacramento State University just before I went to the FBI. Plus, it was not far from where my family lived and not far from where I went to college, so I would have a built-in group of friends.

The location of an agents first office transfer is a source of unlimited angst among the trainees. For single guys like me it was difficult enough, but many in the class had wives or husbands and children. The stress is not relieved until week twelve; every few weeks, we would hear the screams from other classrooms as earlier classes received their orders. No upperclassmen would tell us the drill, except to say that everyone in our class would get the letter at the same time. This only heightened the fear. We were on pins and needles.

On Thursday, March 1, about an hour before lunch, without any fanfare, in the middle of a lecture on abnormal psychology, our class counselor, an FBI supervisory special agent, strolled into the room holding a stack of envelopes. He walked slowly, wearing a sly smile, as if he had just heard the most important secret in the world. He was as conspicuous as if he had been holding a severed head. Nobody paid any more attention to the lecture, and any hope of education of any type for the rest of the day was lost. A loud groan and a few nervous comments were heard in the room. We were terrified. I expected our letters would be handed out to us so that during lunch we could bring them back to our rooms and find out where we were going to be living for the next few years of our lives and tell our loved ones. That would have been hard enough. But we werent going to get off that easily.

We have a little tradition here at the academy, said Frank Germann, our counselor, with the feigned civility and implied threat of Strother Martin in Cool Hand Luke: What we have here is a failure to communicate.

We shuffle the letters, and everybody gets to open theirs in random orderin front of the class, he said, chilling the audience. Before opening, we were to remind the class where we transferred in from, where we hoped to be transferred, and where we thought we would actually be transferred.

As he spoke these words, he began to shuffle the letters. Another groan went up. Finished shuffling, he wrote on the whiteboard the words farthest and nearest to guess. What that referred to, we were told, was the agent transferred the farthest from his or her home and the agent who guessed the nearest to the actual office of transfer. With that, everybody was asked to contribute a $5 bill, and each winner would receive approximately $100.

With the sensitivity of an executioner, Germann called the first name.

Loren Thornton. My friend from Corpus Christi went to the front of the room and said that she wanted any city in Texas and believed she might get El Paso. She opened her letter nervously, took a long read, looked up, and quietly said, Mobile, Alabama.

The disappointment on her face was obvious, but she finished with Well, at least I know where that is, and its not too far from Corpus.

She got a small round of applause. According to the official contest reference document, the AAA Road Atlas, the distance from Corpus Christi to Mobile was 684 miles, and she was in the lead for farthest transfer.

We slowly and agonizingly went through the next dozen names, each future agent reacting with excitement or disappointment. When Bill Clement realized he had been transferred to Erie, Pennsylvania, he pantomimed an elaborate samurai seppuku ceremony, kneeling on the floor and ritually disemboweling himself with an imaginary sword. Had I been transferred to Erie, the sword might not have been imaginary. Another close friend, Tim Beck, was transferred to Seattle, and he was ecstatic. He would find out upon arriving in Seattle that he was assigned to the Coeur dAlene, Idaho, Resident Agency, the satellite office of a larger field office, which was heaven for him. There was no place on Earth he would rather be. Some people did get their dream transfers. Then it was my turn.

It was not easy to walk to the front of the class, and I had less riding on it than anybody. I still hoped for Sacramento, but I had tracked where previous classes sent their agents, and the two classes before ours had each sent an agent to Sacramento, and I could not believe that they would still have any openings there. The only office in the West that had not received an agent in several classes was Salt Lake City, Utah. I therefore told the class that I wanted to go to Sacramento but that I was sure I was going to Salt Lake City instead. Over the last four months they had noticed my love of good draft beer and laughed at the thought of me going to a theoretically dry state. I opened the letter and won $100. I was the first and only person to guess his exact office. Anton Kowalcyk (of late the legal attach in Warsaw, Poland) won the other hundred dollars for being transferred from Portland, Oregon, to Alexandria, Virginia.

As the long winter went on and receded, with transfer orders received, spring in the air, and just a few weeks left in the class, our attention moved to the future. We had a lot to keep us busy besides the academy. I had joined the Quantico Marine Air Base Flying Club. They had a few Cessnas and Pipers and even a couple of surplus navy trainers. I hadnt flown enough hours to qualify for the navy planes, but I grabbed a Piper Archer any clear weekend. I brought my classmate Ricky Madera along frequently. Ricky had flown many different types of aircraft in the air force, from F-4 Phantom IIs to KC-135 aerial tankers to the NASA Vomit Comet, a converted KC-135/Boeing 707 aircraft that the space administration used to provide weightlessness training to astronaut candidates. It created the weightlessness by diving to a substantial speed, pulling up into a steep climb, and then gradually pushing the aircraft over into a dive, reproducing the feeling you might feel on a roller-coaster, but amplified immensely. If the pilot pushed too hard, people were thrown into the ceiling, negatively weighted. If he or she didnt push hard enough, people sat on the floor with a queasy feeling in their stomachs, feeling lighter but certainly not weightless. There was a trick to getting perfect float-around-the-cabin weightlessness. Ricky had been a pilot of those airplanes and flown hundreds of weightless parabolas, so he certainly knew the trick. And he showed me that trick in the Piper Archer. We had riotous fun, going into weightless parabolas all up and down the Potomac River.

We would dive down, picking up a bunch of speed, and do a two-g pull-up, and then, once established on the up arc, Ricky would begin pushing over. We knew we were at perfect zero g when we could spin a camera between us and it neither floated toward the ceiling nor fell to the floor. It was immense fun. Sadly, we had to stay buckled in, so we couldnt float around the cabin. The only glitch in the whole routine was that the Piper Archer was a carbureted aircraft, meaning that it depended on gravity to deliver fuel to the engine. Each time we did a zero-g parabola (which lasted about twenty seconds), the engine would quit. But the engine started quickly once positive gs were applied. It was a great way to deal with the stress of the final weeks of the academy.

My parents came out for the graduation in March, and the ten members of the class who were the sons of FBI agents (legacies) received our badges and credentials from our fathers. Our graduation took place one year and one week after I mailed my application to the FBI, an amazingly quick turnaround time as far as the FBI goes.

Surprisingly, the most significant moment of the academy for me came as I departed. During our time at the FBI Academy, we were not allowed to keep our pistols when we were not on the range. Each weapon corresponded to a small poker-chip medallion; when you went to the range, you traded your medallion for your weapon and then swapped back at the end of the day. This created a very simple inventory system for the range masters.

After the graduation, I went to the gun vault and waited as a class of trainees picked up their guns to go the range. As I had done so many times, I traded my gun chit for my Smith & Wesson Model 13. This time, however, I was in a suit, I was wearing my holster, and instead of walking to the range with an empty gun and loading it on the line, I was handed a box of fifty rounds of ammunition and allowedtoldto load the weapon right then and there.

As I did so and holstered the weapon, it occurred to me that as of that moment I was an FBI agent. An unfamiliar, cautious elation swept over me. Id made it. I had done something that I had dreamed of but never believed down deep that I would ever achieve. Still, strapping on the gun drove home the reality that I was in a dangerous business, and theory and imagination were about to become reality. I had no idea what the future held, but as I walked out of the academy that day, I left behind schoolkid notions of what the FBI would be, unaware that it would be more than I had ever bargained for.
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